## RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-20-2018**

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2017AP2445 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

MARSHAWN TERELL JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from the Circuit Court for Douglas County,

The Honorable Kelly J. Thimm, presiding

#### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

#### MARSHAWN TERELL JOHNSON

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

## I.

#### III. Statement of issues presented for review.

This appeal presents the following issue for review. Namely, did the trial court erroneously exercise its sentencing discretion, and violate the Privileges and Immunities Clause of Article IV, Section 2, of the United States Constitution, by handing down a harsher sentence because Johnson traveled from Chicago, Illinois to commit his crime, than Johnson would have received had he been resident of Superior, Wisconsin? The circuit court in its decisions below answered this question, No.

#### **IV.** Statement on oral argument and publication.

Cases involving an alleged violation of the Privileges and Immunities Clause in criminal sentencing are exceedingly rare. In fact, the undersigned counsel has found only two cases, both coincidently in Wisconsin, which addressed the subject, namely *Buckner v. State*, 56 Wis.2d 539, 202 N.W.2d 406 (1972), and *State v. Duarte*, 2014 WI App 71, 354 Wis.2d 623, 848 N.W.2d 904 (an unpublished case cited only for it persuasive value; Appx. 41-42). In both *Buckner* and *Duarte*, the Court of Appeals did not find violations of the Privileges and Immunities Clause, because the trial court did not actually rely upon the fact that the defendants were from a particular place. Implicit in both decisions was the assumption that had the trial courts actually relied upon the fact that the defendant was from a particular place as a factor in its sentence, the sentences would have been an erroneous exercise of discretion. This case is distinguishable from both *Buckner* and *Duarte* because here the trial court actually did rely on the fact that Johnson traveled from a particular place, namely Chicago, Illinois, as an aggravating factor to justify a harsher sentence. Wisconsin is bordered by four States, with the large metropolitan areas of Minneapolis/St. Paul, Minnesota,<sup>1</sup> and Chicago, Illinois,<sup>2</sup> located close to its borders. It is inevitable that crimes will be committed within its borders by citizens from other States. This naturally places stress upon the norms of comity which exists between the separate States. References during sentencing to a criminal defendant's citizenship in a different State is a recurring issue in the State of Wisconsin. Further guidance to the circuit courts would be desirable. This court's decision should be published. And this court would also benefit from oral argument.

#### V. Statement of Case and Facts.

#### A. Proceedings below and jurisdiction.

On March 16, 2016, Marshawn Terrell Johnson was convicted, after a jury trial, of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver, as a party to a crime, a class D felony, under §§ 961.41(1m)(d)3, and 939.05 Wis. Stat. (R.72 and R.37; Appx. 1-4). On May 13, 2016, the Douglas County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kelly J. Thimm, sentenced Johnson to 18 years state prison, with 8 years of initial confinement followed by 10 years of extended supervision. (R.72; Appx. 1-2). Johnson is currently serving his sentence at the Jackson Correctional Institution.

On June 6, 2016, Johnson filed his notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, which was subsequently deemed by this Court as timely filed. (R.73; *See*, this Court's Order dated January 23, 2018). On September 11, 2017, Johnson filed a motion for post-conviction relief, requesting that the circuit court vacate his sentence and order a resentencing hearing before a new judge. (R.84).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to census data Minneapolis/St. Paul is the sixteenth largest metropolitan statistical area in the United States as defined by the United States Office of Management and Budget. *See, List of metropolitan statistical areas.* Wikipedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List\_of\_metropolitan\_statistical\_areas (accessed: February 8, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to census data Chicago is the third largest metropolitan statistical area in the United States as defined by the United States Office of Management and Budget. *See, List of metropolitan statistical areas.* Wikipedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List\_of\_metropolitan\_statistical\_areas (accessed: February 8, 2018).

A hearing was held on the post-conviction motion on December 6, 2017, and a written order denying the motion was entered on December 7, 2017. (R.114:1 and R.90; Appx. 30 and 5). Johnson then filed his notice of appeal. (R.92). He now appeals his sentence and the trial court's denial of his post-conviction motion. He requests this Court to vacate his sentence and remand the case for a resentencing hearing before a new judge.

This is an appeal from a final judgment and sentence of a circuit court in a criminal case, as well as the denial of a post-conviction motion filed under Wis. Stat. § 809.30. This court has jurisdiction under Wis. Const. art. VII § 5; and Wis. Stat. §§ 808.03(1) and 809.30. See also, *State v. Scherreiks*, 153 Wis.2d 510, 451 N.W.2d 759 (1989).

#### **B.** Facts of the case.

Johnson was arrested on October 27, 2015, during the execution of a search warrant upon a residence located at 1520 Ogden Avenue, in the City of Superior, Douglas County, Wisconsin. (R.108:134-35). The residence located at 1520 Ogden Avenue had been suspected by local law enforcement as being a place of drug trafficking for at least one month. (R.1:2). Local law enforcement began surveilling the residence on the morning of October 27<sup>th</sup> and during that time saw Johnson on at least two occasions exit the residence and enter a car, only to circle the block, and return to the residence shortly afterward. (R.108:239-40). On the last of these occasions Johnson was approached by two officers who attempted to take him into custody. (R.109:6). When Johnson saw the officers approach him, he turned and ran down an alley between John and Ogden Avenues. *Id.* A small package of suspected heroin was later found in that alleyway. (R.109:9-10). That package, however, was never tested and Johnson was not seen throwing it. (R.109:16-18).

Originally, the search warrant was supposed to be a "knock and announce" warrant. (R.108:135-36). Once Johnson had fled from the officers, however,

there was a concern that he might be running back to the residence at 1520 Ogden Avenue to warn the codefendants of the police presence. *Id.* A decision was therefore made to immediately enter and secure the residence without knocking or announcing. *Id.* Inside the residence at 1520 Ogden Avenue law enforcement found Michael Jenkins and Braxton Ray Lahti, who were in the living room. *Id.* In the bathroom was James Mullens, and in the northwest bedroom they found Matthew A. Thompson, Lydia Shanae Higgins and a Michael Tisdale. *Id.* Also in the residence was the infant daughter of Thompson and Higgins. (R.108:75).

Inside the living room Jenkins was sitting on a couch. (R.108:135-36). In Jenkin's left sweatshirt pocket the officers found a package of heroin weighing 59.51 grams.<sup>3</sup> (R.108:137-38 and 175-76). Sitting on a different couch was Lahti and located next to Lahti was a small package of heroin weighing 0.5 grams.<sup>4</sup> (R.108:146 and 175-76). Sitting on an end table was a smaller package of heroin weighing 16.3 grams.<sup>5</sup> (R.108:143 and 175-76). DNA testing would identify the DNA profiles of two males on the 16.3 grams package. (R.108:193-94). Johnson's DNA matched the "major profile," that is, the profile of the DNA most represented on the package. *Id.* Jenkins was excluded as a contributor of the DNA found in the major profile. *Id.* There was insufficient DNA from the "minor profile" to support any comparisons. (R.50:2).

Thompson and Higgins both testified to the drug trafficking activities which were taking place out of the residence at 1520 Ogden Avenue. (R.108:73-132 and 210-28). According to Thompson, 1520 Ogden Avenue was Mullin's home and Thompson, Higgins and their infant daughter came to reside there just a few days before October 27, 2015. (R.108:75-6). Thompson testified about a connection he and Higgins had with a Chicago drug dealer known only by the name of "Bone." (R.108:115). Higgins and "Bone" would arrange for couriers to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Less packaging, 48.064 grams. (R.108:176).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Less packaging, 00.410 grams. (R.108:176).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Less packaging, 11.657 grams. (R.108:176).

bring heroin from Chicago, Illinois, to Superior, Wisconsin. (R.108:118). "Bone" would text Higgins and inform her when the couriers would be arriving at the bus station in West Duluth. (R.108:79). Higgins would then pick up the couriers from the bus station and allow them to traffic heroin from their residence. (R.108:79). In exchange for letting the couriers stay at their residence, Thompson and Higgins would receive free heroin. (R.108:84-5). Thompson and Higgins would also assist the couriers by arranging sales of heroin to their regular customers. (R.108:89-90 and 132). Thompson also admitted to personally making some of the deliveries himself. (R.108:107-11).

Higgins described the same sort of arrangement with Johnson and Jenkins. (R.108:210-28). Higgins testified to having picked up Johnson and Jenkins on October 26, 2015, the day before the arrests. (R.108:212-13). She admitted to having received drugs in exchange for assisting Johnson and Jenkins in the deliveries of heroin. (R.108:214). She also admitted to personally making at least two of the deliveries herself. (R.108:218).

At trial Johnson took the stand and testified that he had come to Superior with his cousin Jenkins to meet girls. (R.109:95-6). It was only after they arrived at 1520 Ogden Avenue that he learned Jenkins was there to make deliveries of heroin. (R.109:97-8). Johnson testified that he did not agree with what Jenkins was doing and did not participate in the selling of the heroin. (R.109:99). He admitted to buying some marijuana to help calm himself down. (R.109:100). Later he said he went out for a walk when "a black car approached me with tinted windows. A man, a bald-headed man with a goatee hopped out of the car, not all the way, reached over the top of the car and aimed a gun and I ran." (R.109:102-03). To Johnson, being from Chicago, this seemed the natural thing to do. *Id*. The jury saw things differently, however, and returned a verdict of guilty. (R.109:178-79 and R.37; Appx. 3-4).

#### The disposition of the codefendants cases

An understanding of what happened to the codefendants in the disposition of their cases is essential to understanding what happened in this case. There were four persons arrested and charged as parties to the crime of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver. Two of the codefendants were African-Americans from Chicago, Illinois. They were Michael Elijah Jenkins and Marshawn Terell Johnson. Two of the codefendants were Caucasians from Superior, Wisconsin. They were Matthew A. Thompson and Lydia Shanae Higgins. Jenkins and Johnson both received lengthy prisons sentences. Thompson and Higgins both had their sentences withheld and were placed on probation.

Michael Elijah Jenkins, who is Johnson's cousin and resides in the City of Chicago, Illinois, was charged as a party to the crime of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver, a class D felony, under § 961.41(1m)(d)3, Wis. Stat. To that charge he ultimately pled guilty and was sentenced to 11 years prison, with 5 years initial confinement followed by 6 years of extended supervision. (*See*, Douglas County Court file no. 15CF415; *Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶ 5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (this court may take judicial notice of CCAP entries)). Jenkins and Johnson were the only African-Americans charged in the incident.

Matthew A. Thompson, was residing at 1520 Ogden Avenue, Superior, Wisconsin. He aided and abetted the couriers sent by "Bone" by arranging sales heroin to their regular customers. (R.108:89-90 and 132). He also admitted to personally making some of the deliveries himself. (R.108:107-11). He was also charged as a party to the crime of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver, a class D felony, under § 961.41(1m)(d)3, Wis. Stat.; possession of narcotic drugs, a class I felony, under § 961.41(3g)(am), Wis. Stat.; possession of drug paraphernalia, an unclassified misdemeanor, under § 961.573(1), Wis. Stat.; and possession of amphetamine, an unclassified misdemeanor, under § 961.41(3g)(d), Wis. Stat. Ultimately, the charge of possession of heroin (>10-50g)

with intent to deliver was dismissed on the prosecutor's motion, prosecution of the possession of narcotic drugs charge was deferred pursuant to an agreement, and Thompson ended up pleading guilty to the two misdemeanor charges for which he received withheld sentences and was placed on probation for two years. (*See*, Douglas County Court file no. 15CF412; R.107:6).

Lydia Shanae Higgins, was also residing at 1520 Ogden Avenue, Superior, Wisconsin. She admitted to making two deliveries of heroin out of the residence and was the party who would arrange with "Bone" for the couriers to bring heroin from Chicago, Illinois, to Superior, Wisconsin. (R.108:118 and 218). She was also charged as a party to the crime of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver, a class D felony, under § 961.41(1m)(d)3, Wis. Stat.; and possession of narcotic drugs, a class I felony, under § 961.41(3g)(am), Wis. Stat. Ultimately, the charge of possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver was dismissed on the prosecutor's motion. Higgins pled guilty to the charge of possession of narcotic drugs and received a withheld sentence and was placed on probation for two years. (*See*, Douglas County Court file no. 15CF417; R.107:6).

Braxton Ray Lahti, who also resided in Superior, Wisconsin, was charged with possession of narcotic drugs, a class I felony, under § 961.41(3g)(am), Wis. Stat. Ultimately, Lahti pled guilty to the charge of possession of narcotic drugs and received a withheld sentence and was placed on probation for three years. (*See*, Douglas County Court file no. 15CF414).

James Mullens, to whom the residence at 1520 Ogden Avenue actually belonged, and Michael Tisdale were not charged with any crimes.

#### Sentencing

Sentencing was held on May 13, 2016. (R.107:1; Appx. 6). Prior to sentencing a presentence investigation and report (PSI) was ordered and submitted. (R.61 and R.64). The PSI noted no criminal record, though Johnson did self-report having been twice charged with robbery as a juvenile. (R.64:4). The PSI writer was unable to independently verify these charges despite numerous

attempts to contact various agencies in Chicago. *Id.* The PSI noted that Johnson had been accepted for entrance by two colleges in the Chicago area. (R.64:7). And that Johnson has resided in the Chicago area his whole life. (R.64:9). The writer reported that Johnson was polite and cooperative and had no problems completing the required paperwork. (R.64:10). The writer, however, took Johnson to task for not taking responsibility for this offense. *Id.* The writer also took special notice that Johnson had traveled some 500 miles from Chicago, Illinois to commit this crime in Superior, Wisconsin. *Id.* The writer wrote that "[t]here was a conscious decision made to commit a criminal act in another state" and noted that the destructive impact of heroin use in the Twin Ports (Superior/Duluth) cannot be overstated. *Id.* The PSI recommended an 8-10 year sentence, with 4-5 years of initial incarceration followed by 4-5 years of extended supervision. *Id.* 

At the sentencing hearing the State stressed its particular frustration with the fact that Johnson had come from Chicago, Illinois, to commit a crime in Superior, Wisconsin. The State made the following argument:

I think the most frustrating thing in this case also is the fact that there was travel from Chicago to Duluth and to Superior crossing three state lines. Technically this could have gone -- been a Federal case so that is a very big, frustrating aspect of this case that we have individuals that are coming in from Chicago. He is most certainly not the first individual that has been sent up from Chicago. He has not been the last since this offense has occurred, *but the stream from Chicago needs to stop, and I think obviously [a] message needs to be sent,* not only from the dealers that are in Chicago that we believe are sending these individuals up here, but also the individuals that are coming and the individuals that are purchasing from the dealers.

(R.107:4; Appx. 10) (emphasis added). The State made a sentence recommendation of an 18-year prison sentence, with 8 years of initial incarceration followed by 10 years of extended supervision. (R.107:5; Appx. 11). At the conclusion of the State's comments the circuit court inquired into claims of "disparate treatment of codefendants." (R.107:6; Appx. 12). The State acknowledged that Thompson and Higgins had received probation dispositions, and also had their Class D felony possession of heroin charges had been dismissed. (R.107:6-8; Appx. 12-14). The prosecutor noted that Thompson and Higgins had cooperated with law enforcement, testified at trial, and entered treatment. *Id.* The prosecutor concluded by stating that "... I do think that there is a difference bringing the drugs -- physically bringing the drugs to the community versus helping to provide individuals to purchase the drugs." (R.107:9; Appx. 15)

Trial counsel for Johnson opened his remarks by observing that "...[t]here is a big difference between Matt Thompson and Marshawn Johnson...," Johnson had no prior criminal record. (R.107:8; Appx. 14). He observed that Johnson was young, 19 years of age, and had a supportive family. *Id*. He noted that Higgins and Thompson, both admitted to making many deliveries of heroin when their one-year-old child was in the house. (R.107:9; Appx. 15). He noted that Thompson's testimony reflected that he and Higgins would invite people from Chicago to sell heroin out of their home; and that they would actively assist these persons by personally making deliveries of heroin themselves. *Id*. And yet, counsel noted, Thompson got a deferred judgment and an opportunity to enter treatment. *Id*.

Johnson's counsel reminded the circuit court that it had received letters of support for Johnson from two different school officials, which suggested that Marshawn Johnson was an active and productive member of his community. (R.107:11; Appx. 17). He noted that Johnson's mother, who was in the courtroom, had done everything she could to surround Johnson with loving and positive influence; to set a good example and work ethic for Johnson and his brother. (R.107:12; Appx. 18). Defense counsel recommended that the circuit court impose and stay a prison sentence of 8 years, with 4 years of initial incarceration followed by 4 years of extended supervision. (R.107:13; Appx. 19). Counsel then recommended a five-year probationary period, with one-year of conditional time in jail. *Id.* Counsel argued that this would be appropriate given Johnson's youth, his acceptance to college, Johnson's supportive family and community, and the probationary dispositions that had already been given to other

codefendants. *Id.* Johnson exercised his right of allocution, apologizing for the trouble he had caused the community and promising to keep himself away from these types of situations and to move forward in a positive route from here on. (R.107:15; Appx. 21). Johnson did not, it should be acknowledged, admit to having committed the crimes for which he was being sentenced. *Id.* 

The circuit court then recessed to review the letters which had been submitted to the court. (R.107:16; Appx. 22). After the recess, the court cited the *McCleary*<sup>6</sup> sentencing factors and began by making findings as to the seriousness of the offense. *Id.* The circuit court observed that "[e]verybody agrees heroin is killing people in our community." *Id.* That babies were being born addicted to heroin; and that seeing a baby go through withdrawal is a harrowing sight to see. (R.107:17; Appx. 23). The circuit court then stated the following:

The other part of the offense that makes it serious is Mr. Johnson comes up from Chicago and brings this poison to our community. I cannot overstate how serious that is, bringing this drug to our community and the interesting part, I looked at the letters that Mr. Johnson had sent on his behalf, and I'm sure there's more but the Mr. Johnson that's in these letters isn't the Mr. Johnson that came from Chicago, came to Superior and was slinging drugs out of a house in Superior. He was the nice person in the letter: He made a choice when he came up on the bus to do what he did.

#### Id.

The court then began to make its findings as to Johnson's character. It found his version of events to be unconvincing, and found his continuing to "sell this lie," and not accept responsibility, spoke poorly to his character. (R.107:18; Appx. 24). The court also felt the fact that Johnson was *not* a heroin addict actually spoke against his character, in that the dealer who is an addict is largely selling the heroin to feed his addiction, and not solely to make money, as was the case with Johnson. *Id.* On the other hand, the circuit court found that Johnson had graduated high school, was accepted to college, had a supportive family, and had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

people in the community willing to send letters of support despite knowing the seriousness of the charge. *Id.* 

The circuit court then moved on to the protection of the public. (R.107:19; Appx. 25). The court opened by saying:

The need to protect the public, and this is where I think there's not much mitigation. We have specific and general deterrence. Specifically, Mr. Johnson needs to get the message he cannot go into our community and sell drugs and the community and those around the community need to get the message they're not going to bring heroin into Superior and sell it to our people. *They cannot do it and that's the aggravating factor bringing this drug from Chicago into the Superior community*.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The circuit court also addressed the disparities in the sentences between the codefendants and acknowledged that there was going to be a discrepancy between the sentence received by Johnson, and those received by the codefendants from Superior:

Quite frankly, there's this discussion of the other codefendants; and I'm moved by the fact that the co-defendants received quite lenient dispositions. Quite frankly, it makes me second -- gives me second thought that they shouldn't have been treated so leniently and ultimately I believe I was the judge on those cases and I think that I probably did the wrong thing. They should have probably been treated more partially, not as lenient as they were treated, but the difference between those people and Mr. Johnson is the offense level is obviously different. It was a joint recommendation. They cooperated. Accepted responsibility which is something that Mr. Johnson continues not to do.

(R.107:19-20; Appx. 25-26). It is unclear from the circuit court's remarks whether the court was aware, or unaware, that Johnson, Jenkins, Thompson and Higgins were all originally arrested and charged with possession of heroin (>10-50g) with intent to deliver.

The court considered, then rejected probation as a sentence alternative. (R.107:21; Appx. 26). The court also rejected the recommendation of the PSI writer, stating that:

I toil with the appropriate length of prison time here, but it comes down to a message needs to be sent to Mr. Jenkins and the community. This behavior is not going to be tolerated. And by sending a message, I believe we are protecting the public, both

generally and specifically here and the message needs to be sent directly to Mr. Jenkins, you are not getting away with this behavior lightly.

(R.107:21-22; Appx. 27-28). The circuit court accept the recommendation of the State and sentenced Johnson to 18-years prison, with 8 years of initial incarceration to be followed by 10 years of extended supervision. *Id*.

On December 7, 2017, a hearing was held on Johnson's postconviction motion raising the same Privileges and Immunities argument made in this brief. (R.84 and R.114). The circuit court elaborated on Johnson sentence as follows:

when I was sentencing Mr. Johnson, the law is unsettled whether or not somebody can be punished differently because they are from another area or city or state. But that withstanding, my point was, to me it's an aggravating factor: The drug dealer that comes from out of the area and brings the drugs here; as opposed to a lower-level dealer who would have gotten the drugs from out of the area, kind of the street-level dealer versus the individual, like Mr. Johnson, who -- Mr. Johnson actually was the -- I guess wholesaler and then the retailer. So he took on two additional roles, as opposed to one role. And that's how I looked at it.

I didn't look at it, Well, Mr. Johnson is from Chicago he needs to be punished because he's from Chicago. I looked at Mr. Johnson being the wholesaler and the retailer and that was the point behind my sentence, which is different than an individual who was the retailer here, but not also the wholesaler, because of taking on those two additional responsibilities.

(R.114:7-8; Appx. 36-37). Thus, in the circuit court's reasoning, a resident of Superior, Wisconsin, who happens to get his drugs from Chicago, Illinois, and then proceeded to sell those drugs in Superior, is merely a "retailer" of heroin. While Johnson, because he is a citizen of Chicago, Illinois, who traveled to Superior for the purpose of selling heroin, became by virtue of that journey is both a "wholesaler" and a "retailer", and thus deserving of harsher punishment. Johnson then filed this appeal. (R.92).

#### VI. Argument.

#### A. Summary of Argument.

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