# RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN **05-01-2018**

### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2017AP2445-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARSHAWN TERELL JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DOUGLAS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KELLY J. THIMM, PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

### I. Applicable legal principles.

Circuit courts must consider three primary factors in determining an appropriate sentence: the gravity of the offense, the character of the defendant, and the need to protect the public. *See Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 28. Courts also may consider a variety of secondary factors. *See id*.

"Sentencing courts have considerable discretion as to the weight to be assigned to each factor." *Id.* "In exercising discretion, sentencing courts must individualize the sentence to the defendant based on the facts of the case by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how the sentence imposed furthers the sentencing objectives." *Id.* ¶ 29.

A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion when it imposes its sentence based upon "clearly irrelevant or improper factors." *Id.* ¶ 30. "Sentencing decisions are afforded a presumption of reasonability consistent with [the] strong public policy against interference with the circuit court's discretion." *Id.* "Accordingly, the defendant bears the heavy burden of showing that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion." *Id.* A defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that the sentencing court relied on an improper factor. *Id.* ¶¶ 34, 42.

## II. The circuit court properly considered the fact that Johnson brought heroin from Chicago to Superior to be an aggravating factor.

Johnson argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion when it consider the fact that Johnson "was not a resident of Superior, Wisconsin, but rather was a resident of Chicago, Illinois, as an aggravating factor" when it sentenced him. (Johnson's Br. 14.) Johnson argues that the court's consideration of his Chicago residence violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause, of Article IV, Section 2, of the United States Constitution. (*Id.* at 13.)<sup>2</sup>

There are three problems with that argument.

*First*, Johnson does not cite any case that holds that consideration of the fact that a defendant came from a different state violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause. He says that in two Wisconsin cases, the appellate court "did not find violations of the Privileges and Immunities Clause, because the trial court did not actually rely upon the fact that the defendants were from a particular place." (Johnson's Br. 16 (citing Buckner v. State, 56 Wis. 2d 539, 202 N.W.2d 406 (1972), and State v. Duarte, nos. 2013AP1706–CR, 2013AP1707-CR, 2013AP1708-CR, 2013AP1709-CR, 2014 WL 2050846 (Wis. Ct. App. May 20, 2014) (unpublished).) But, he argues, "implicit in both decisions was the assumption that had the trial courts actually relied upon the fact that the defendant was from a particular place as a factor in its sentence, the sentences would have been erroneous exercises of discretion." (Id. at 16-17.)

Johnson misreads both cases. In *Buckner*, the defendant, who was from Chicago, argued that the sentencing court violated the Equal Protection and Privileges and Immunities Clauses when it referred to the fact that he and his codefendants were from Chicago. *Buckner*, 56 Wis. 2d at 551. The supreme court rejected that argument, stating that "[a]lthough defendant asserts violations of his constitutional rights, he cites no authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Both Article IV and the Fourteenth Amendment include a Privileges and Immunities Clause. *See State v. Ruesch*, 214 Wis. 2d 548, 557, 571 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1997).

and attempts no showing that the trial court relied, in its determination of the proper sentence, upon the fact that defendant was from Chicago." *Id.* at 552.

In *Duarte*, the defendant argued that the circuit court's sentencing remarks demonstrated that it imposed a harsher sentence because he was not a Brown County native, having moved there from California. *Duarte*, 2014 WL 2050846, ¶ 3 (A-App. 41.) This Court rejected that claim because Duarte made "no cognizable argument about *how* the court's reference to the move from California was an improper factor or how that reference lacked a reasonable nexus to the court's discussion of Duarte's character." *Id.* ¶ 5.

Johnson's reading of *Buckner* and *Duarte* is mistaken because in both cases, the courts rejected the defendants' arguments not only because "the trial court did not actually rely upon the fact that the defendants were from a particular place" (Johnson's Br. 16), but also because there was no legal basis for their argument. In *Buckner*, the supreme court noted that the defendant "cite[d] no authority" to support his argument. Buckner, 56 Wis. 2d at 552. In Duarte, this Court noted that the defendant made "no cognizable argument about how the court's reference to the move from California was an improper factor." Duarte, 2014 WL 2050846, ¶ 5. Moreover, even if the *Buckner* and *Duarte* courts had based their decisions only upon the fact that the sentencing courts had not actually relied upon the defendant's out-of-state residence, that would have meant nothing more than that the Buckner and Duarte courts had assumed without deciding that it would have been an improper factor.

In short, Johnson has not identified any legal authority to support his claim that a sentencing court violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause if it considers a defendant's out-of-state residence as an aggravating factor at sentencing. This Court does not consider arguments unsupported by references to relevant legal authority. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992)

Second, even if it were improper to consider at sentencing the fact that a defendant lives in another state, the circuit court's concern here was not with where Johnson lived but what he did. The circuit court's remarks addressed the problem of individuals bringing heroin from Chicago to Superior to sell. The court said that the "aggravating factor" was Johnson's "bringing this drug from Chicago into the Superior community." (R. 107:20, A-App. 25.) Whether Johnson lived in southeast Wisconsin or in Illinois was not the aggravating factor; it was the fact that he brought heroin from Chicago to Superior.

Case law involving claims that a sentencing court improperly relied on a defendant's nationality illustrate the importance of this distinction. In United States v. Munoz, 974 F.2d 493 (4th Cir. 1992), for example, the defendant came to the United States from Colombia at the behest of a co-conspirator and became involved in a drug distribution organization in Miami supplied with drugs from Colombia. Id. at 494. At the sentencing hearing, the district judge stated that it was "revolting to see you people come up here from South America, take advantage of our system, take advantage of the wealth, the work and good people of this country and bring in these drugs literally by the ton." Id. at 495. The sentencing court said that it "was not charging Mr. Munoz with tons of cocaine or tons of marijuana or anything else" but that it was "talking about the people who deal in these drugs down in Florida from these South American States." Id.

Munoz argued on appeal that the sentencing judge's remarks displayed an improper bias against him based on

his Colombian nationality. See id. The Fourth Circuit rejected that claim. It said that while "[b]road discretion is given to sentencing courts to consider a wide range of information concerning the background, character, and conduct of defendants," "there is no proper place for a comment or observation by a sentencing judge during sentencing that alludes to the national origin of the defendant as a basis of sentencing." *Id.* "[S]uch extraneous observations run counter to fundamental constitutional principles against basing punishment on a defendant's national origin." *Id.* 

But, the Fourth Circuit held, "[w]hile a defendant's nationality cannot form the basis of punishment, a sentencing court may indicate the community's outrage at the defendant's conduct as well as at its larger context, for instance by decrying the source of the drugs involved in a defendant's offense and the distributing organizations at locations in other countries." Id. A sentencing court "may also impose a sentence to deter similar criminal conduct by others, and so may refer to those, as a group, whom the court seeks to deter" and "may appropriately take judicial notice of the fact that South America, in general, and Colombia, in particular, are major sources of the cocaine sold and used in the United States." Id. (citation omitted). The district court's sentencing remarks were proper, the court of appeals concluded, because "the court's comments were directed at drug traffickers from Colombia and Florida, and not Colombians or South Americans, generally." Id. at 496.

That principle applies with equal force here. Johnson does not take issue with the circuit court's observations that heroin use is a significant problem in the Superior community and that Chicago is a significant source of the heroin plaguing the community. The circuit court properly determined that the fact that Johnson brought heroin from Chicago to sell in Superior to be an aggravating factor at sentencing.

Third, Johnson argues that the circuit court's consideration of the fact that he brought the heroin from Chicago violates his constitutional right to travel under the Privileges and Immunities Clause. (Johnson's Br. 19.) But "[w]hile the right to travel is well-established, no federal court has ever held that an individual has a fundamental right to travel for an illicit purpose." United States v. Bredimus, 352 F.3d 200, 210 (5th Cir. 2003).

Finally, the State notes that Johnson's brief hints at a possible claim that his sentence was improperly based on race. He states in his brief that he and codefendant Michael Jenkins are black and that two other codefendants, Matthew Thompson and Lydia Higgins, are "Caucasians from Superior, Wisconsin." (Johnson's Br. 6.) He further states that he and Jenkins "both received lengthy prisons sentences" while "Thompson and Higgins both had their sentences withheld and were placed on probation." (*id.*) He asserts that "[t]he considerable disparities between the sentences received by the two African-American defendants from Chicago, Illinois, and the two Caucasian defendants of Superior, Wisconsin, cannot be waived away simply by arguing that the Caucasian defendants testified at trial and the African-American defendants did not" (*id.* at 18).

If Johnson is attempting to argue that the circuit court improperly relied on race as a factor, this Court should reject that argument as inadequately developed. *See Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646. Moreover, as Johnson acknowledges, Thompson and Higgins were convicted of much less serious offenses than Johnson's Class D felony (R. 72:1)—according to Johnson, Thompson was convicted of two misdemeanors and Higgins was convicted of a Class I felony. (Johnson's Br. 6.) Indeed, the circuit court stated at Johnson's sentencing that "the difference between those people and Mr. Johnson is the offense level is obviously different" and that the other defendants cooperated and "[a]ccepted responsibility which is something that Mr. Johnson continues not to do." (R. 107:21, A-App. 26.) This Court should reject Johnson's insinuation that the circuit court based its sentence on his race.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.